LOW-FREQUENCY TOP-LOADED ANTENNAS

Electrical properties are presented in a series of curves suitable for use in design; criteria for selection of antenna types are given

T. E. Devaney, R. F. Hall, W. E. Gustafson • **Research and Development Report** 22 June 1966

U. S. NAVY ELECTRONICS LABORATORY, SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA

NEL/REPORT 1381

00101

C:)



OCT 21 1966

PROBLEM

Determine, using model studies, the electrical properties of top-loaded monopole antennas and the changes in these properties with top-hat configuration. Analyze and interpret the results. Present the results in the form of design curves and illustrate their use.

RESULTS

1. Electrical properties of top-loaded monopole antennas are presented in a series of curves suitable for use by a design engineer.

2. Projected length of the top-hat radials should be 0.7 tower height for optimum bandwidth-efficiency product and 0.8 tower height for optimum power-bandwidth product.

3. In most cases there should be 24 radials in the top-hat anchored at a distance from the base equal to the tower height. Extending the anchor points outward will improve electrical properties when a height limitation exists.

4. Comparison of the top-loaded monopole with other antennas of similar size indicates that only the three-tower triatic antenna has superior characteristics.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Accept the top-loaded monopole as the Navy standard for low-frequency use.

2. Prepare structural drawings of a set of standard toploaded antennas meeting various operational requirements.

3. When height limitations make it difficult to meet bandwidth-efficiency requirements with standard top-loaded antennas, first consider extension of the top-hat radius beyond the mechanical optimum, then consider triatic design; if sufficient bandwidth cannot be obtained by these methods, consider resistive loading, but only after careful review of frequency requirements.

ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

Work was done under SF 006 03 05, Task 7916 (NEL B14561) by members of the Antennas Division from November 1964 through May 1965. The report was approved for publication 22 June 1966.

The authors wish to acknowledge the work of L. L. Whittemore and J. H. Thornton on model construction, measurements, and data analysis and compilation.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ... page 5

MODEL DESCRIPTION ... 5

ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES MEASURED ... 7

MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES ... 7

DATA ANALYSIS ... 9

RESULTS: DESIGN CURVES ... 11

Electrical properties of reference tower antenna . . . 12 Electrical properties of top-loaded antennas . . . 19 Electrical properties versus number of radials . . . 37 Correction factors for h/d ratios other than 200/1 . . . 40

STUDY OF RESULTS ... 44

DESIGN APPLICATIONS ... 46

CONCLUSIONS... 49

RECOMMENDATIONS ... 50

REFERENCES ... 51

ILLUSTRATIONS

Top-loaded antenna, overall view page 6
Test equipment for determining antenna characteristics 9
Variation of reference antenna properties with tower height $\dots 12 - 18$
Variation of top-loaded antenna properties with ratio of projected length to tower height, $N = 6 \dots 19 - 24$
Variation of top-loaded antenna properties with ratio of projected length to tower height, $N = 12 \dots 25 - 29$
Variation of top-loaded antenna properties with ratio of projected length to tower height, $N = 24 \dots 30 - 36$

ILLUSTRATIONS (Continued)

31-33	Dependence of selected top-loaded antenna	
94 60	properties on number of radials pages 37 -	39
34-36	Correction factors for tower size A7 _ A2	

INTRODUCTION

The typical low-frequency antenna consists of a guyed tower supported on an insulated base. Capacitive top-loading is normally used to increase bandwidth or power-handling capability.¹⁻³ Although numerous model studies have been made on the effects of top-loading, they have usually been limited in scope and directed toward a specific design problem. No generalized study has been available for antenna design with specific bandwidth and/or powerhandling characteristics for the 50-to-150-kc/s frequency range. This design study was undertaken to provide this basic information plus additional electrical properties, including the powerbandwidth characteristics. The data are presented in groups of design curves.*

MODEL DESCRIPTION

The test antenna (fig. 1) can be considered an idealized 100to-1 scale model of a 630-foot top-loaded antenna with tower height/diameter (h/d) ratio of 200/1. The model test frequency of 5 Mc/s corresponds to a full-scale frequency of 50 kc/s. The test results are applicable by use of scaling techniques to towers of any height having the same h/d ratio, provided the physical distance from the tower base to the outer edge of top-hat radials is less than $\lambda/8$.

*Sets of these curves in larger scale, suitable for field use, are available. Address requests to Commanding Officer and Director, U.S. Navy Electronics Laboratory, San Diego, California 92152, attention Code 3250E.



Figure 1. Top-loaded antenna, overall view.

The model was made with a 76-inch length of 3/8-inch OD brass tubing on a $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch-long Teflon insulator of slightly greater diameter. Nylon string was used for structural guying. The toploading wires were 10-mil, number 30, soft drawn copper, and simulated 1-inch radials for the 100-to-1 scale. The model was constructed without sag in the top-hat radials; consequently, in applying results to a full-scale design, a correction has to be introduced. The amount of correction depends on the type of insulators used at the ends of the top-hat radials. For conventional design the effective height is usually lowered by about 4 percent. With the newer fiberglass insulators reduction is about 2 percent. For test purposes the model was placed on a 100-by-160-foot mesh ground plane.

ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES MEASURED

The primary electrical properties measured were the shunt capacitance, resonant frequency, and effective height. Studies were made with 6, 12, and 24 top-hat radials. Each study consisted of four sets of measurements. For each set of measurements ρ the radial distance from the tower base to the radial anchor point was held constant. So that the data could be universally applied, the values of distance ρ were expressed as multiples of tower height h. Four values of $\rho - h/2$, h, 3/2h, and 2h — were selected. For each value of ρ , a set of measurements was obtained by varying the projection of the active portion of the tophat radials upon the antenna tower. The projection was varied in one-tenth steps from 0.1h to 0.9h. If ℓ is the total length of the top-hat radials, ℓ' the active length, and h' the projection of the active portion on the tower of height h, then, as can be seen from figure 1

$$t = (h^2 + \rho^2)^{1/2}$$
(1)

$$\boldsymbol{\ell}' = \boldsymbol{\ell} (h'/h) \tag{2}$$

The configuration $\rho = h$, and h'/h = 0.707 was chosen as typical to determine the approximate effect of tower diameter on the measurements. With 6, 12, and finally 24 radials in the top-hat, the antenna parameters were determined for three different values of tower diameter. For these diameters, h/d was equal to 50, 100, and 200.

MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES

The primary properties of the top-loaded model antennas were found in terms of the equivalent properties of the center tower of the model. In the case of the static capacitance, the absolute value was measured with a Boontoon model 260-A Qmeter, and the ratio of the capacitance of the top-loaded model antennas to the reference tower was obtained. The ratio of the resonant frequencies was found with a grid dip meter. Each frequency reading was monitored on an electronic counter. The method of coupling the grid dip meter to the antenna being measured introduced an error of constant percentage into the results. The error was of no concern in determining the relative values, since it canceled out. However, it was also necessary to know the true resonant frequency of the reference tower antenna. This frequency was carefully measured by inducing a voltage into the antenna and determining the frequency for maximum base current. It was found that resonance occurred at $0.956 f_r$, where f_r was the resonant frequency of an infinitely thin antenna of the same height.

The relative effective height was determined by finding the ratio of the field intensity of the top-loaded model antenna to that of the reference tower. A block diagram of the test setup is shown in figure 2. Measurements were made with a constant current at a frequency of 5 Mc/s. The model being measured was always placed at the same point on the ground plane and the field-intensity meter at another fixed point. The effective capacitance of the model antennas being studied varied from about 22 picofarads for the reference tower to over 300 picofarads for some of the top-loaded configurations. The shunt capacitance of the antenna-current meter and its connecting lead was several picofarads. Since a part of the current indicated by the meter was shunted to ground through this capacitance, an error was introduced in the current reading varying from about 1 percent to as much as 12 percent. A small glass capacitor was placed in the antenna-current lead as shown in figure 2 to hold this error constant. The value of the capacitor was varied with each test condition in such a way that the antenna-current meter always looked into 22 picofarads. Under these conditions the shunting error canceled out when ratios were taken.

Daily variations in field intensity were noted, and each data set was completed within a 4-hour period on the same day to avoid these variations. The absolute effective height of the reference antenna was considered to be one-half its physical height.



Figure 2. Test equipment for determining antenna characteristics.

DATA ANALYSIS

It is assumed that any antenna designed with the help of this study will be electrically short at its lowest frequency; that is, the electrical distance from the base of the antenna to the end of the top-hat radials will be less than $\lambda/8$. Because of this restriction the effective height of the reference antenna can be considered equal to one-half its physical height, and the effective capacitance of each of the antennas equal to its static capacitance.⁴⁻⁶ In addition, simple formulas can be used to compute important electrical characteristics not directly determined. The four of particular interest are radiation resistance, antenna system bandwidthefficiency product, maximum radiated-power capability, and power-bandwidth product. The radiation resistance is important in determining the allowable losses in the ground system and

tuning system for a given efficiency. The bandwidth-efficiency product indicates the capability of the transmitting system to handle the multichannel broadcasts which are being increasingly employed because of growing density of traffic.

This bandwidth-efficiency product is sometimes expressed in terms of the transmitting system, in which case it is assumed to be twice that of the antenna system. Because this two-to-one relationship is only approximate. and depends on the nature of the transmitter used. bandwidth is expressed in this report in terms of the antenna system alone. To obtain the "loaded" bandwidthefficiency product. the reader should multiply the values presented here by two. The radiated-power capability must be sufficient to meet coverage requirements. It is limited by the allowable base voltage, which for this study is assumed to be 100 kV. Finally. the power-bandwidth product - that is. the product of the maximum radiated-power capability and the bandwidth-efficiency product - is a commonly used figure of merit for antennas.

The expressions used in calculating properties of the reference antenna are:

Radiation resistance
$$(\mathbb{R}_{r}) = 160\pi^{2}(h_{e}/\lambda)^{2}$$
 ohms (3)
Bandwidth-efficiency $(\overline{BWn}) = \frac{320\pi^{3}h_{e}^{2}f^{4}C_{e}}{c^{2}}$ cycles (4)
product $(\mathbb{P}_{m}) = \frac{0.64\pi^{4}V_{b}^{2}f^{4}h_{e}^{2}C_{e}^{2}}{c^{2}}$ kilowatts (5)
Power-bandwidth $(\mathbb{P}_{m}\ \overline{EW}) = \frac{204.8\pi^{7}V_{b}^{2}f^{8}h_{e}^{4}C_{e}^{3}}{c^{4}}$ kilowatt (6)
product $(\mathbb{P}_{m}\ \overline{EW}) = \frac{204.8\pi^{7}V_{b}^{2}f^{8}h_{e}^{4}C_{e}^{3}}{c^{4}}$

where

= Effective height in meters ho

λ = Free-space wavelongth in meters

 C^4

- = Frequency in cycles per second f
- = Effective antenna capacitance in farads C_{e}

 V_b = Maximum allowable base voltage

$$c =$$
Velocity of light = 10^8 meters per second

Since only relative values of computed properties are needed for the top-loaded structures. simpler expressions can be used. If we use primes to indicate the relative values and add a zero to the sub-script to designate the reference antenna

$$R_{r}' = (h_{e}/h_{e0})^{2}$$
(7)

$$(BWn)' = R_r'(C_e / C_{e0}) = R_r'C_e'$$
(8)

$$P_{m}' = R_{r}'(C_{e}')^{2}$$
⁽⁹⁾

$$(P_m \overline{Bk'})' = (R_r')^2 (C_e')^3$$
(10)

In actual computation. the relative radiation resistance was found by squaring the relative field intensity; the relative bandwidthefficiency product by multiplying the relative radiation resistance by the relative capacitance; the relative power-handling capability by multiplying the relative radiation resistance by the square of the relative capacitance: and the power-bandwidth product by multiplying the square of the relative radiation resistance by the cube of the relative capacitance.

RESULTS: DESIGN CURVES

The results of the study are presented as a family of design curves arranged in four groups. The first two groups contain data on seven important antenna characteristics. The third group plots some of the same information in a different form to emphasize the dependence of antenna properties on the number of radials. The fourth group supplies correction factors for estimates of antenna properties for tower h/d ratios other than the 200/1 considered in the model studies.

Electrical Properties of Reference Tower Antenna (Group I)

Figures 3 to 9 contain data on static capacitance. resonant frequency. effective height. radiation resistance. bandwidthefficiency product. radiated-power capability. and power-bandwidth product. The absolute values of the quantities are plotted as functions of tower height for heights from 300 to 1000 feet. In figures 6 through 9 frequency is a parameter. and there are curves for 50. 70.7. 100. and 150 kc/s. The curves were plotted by standard scaling techniques from measurements made on the model reference antenna. For example. the measured static capacitance of the 6.3-foot reference antenna was 22 picofarads. The capacity of a 630-foot tower will therefore be 2200 picofarads. since for a constant h/d ratio the static capacitance is proportional to antenna height.



Figure 3. Variation of static capacitance of reference antenna with tower height (h/d=200).



Figure 4. Computed resonant frequency of reference antenna as a function of tower height (h/d = 200).



Figure 5. Variation of effective height of reference antenna with tower height (h/d=200).



Figure 6. Variation of radiation resistance of reference antenna with tower height (h/d=200).



Figure 7. Variation of reference tower bandwidth - efficiency product with tower height (h/d=200).



Figure 8. Variation of reference tower maximum radiated-power capability with tower height (h/d = 200).



Figure 9. Variation of reference antenna power-bandwidth product with tower height (h/d = 200).

3.14

Electrical Properties of Top-Loaded Antennas (Group II)

Figures 10 to 30 show the properties of the top-loaded configurations studied in terms of the properties of reference antennas of the same height. The data are plotted against the fractional projected lengths of the active portion of the top-hat radials for lengths between one-tenth and nine-tenths the center-tower height. Figures are arranged according to the number of top-hat radials - 6. 12 or 24. The four curves in each figure correspond to the four values of the parameter ρ (refer to Electrical Properties Measured).



Figure 10. Normalized static capacitance of top - loaded antenna, N=6.





ha



Figure 12. Normalized effective height of top-loaded antenna, N 6.



Figure 13. Normalized radiation resistance of top-loaded antenna, N=6.











Figure 16. Normalized power-bandwidth product of toploaded antenna, N = 6.



Figure 18. Normalized resonant frequency of top-loaded antenna, N = 12.





Figure 20. Normalized radiation resistance of top-loaded antenna, N = 12.







Figure 22. Normalized radiated power of top - loaded antenna, N = 12.



Figure 23. Normalized power-bandwidth product of toploaded antenna, N = 12.



Figure 24. Normalized static capacitance of top-loaded antenna, N = 24.

h.



Figure 25. Normalized resonant frequency of top-loaded antenna, N = 24.



Figure 26. Normalized effective height of top-loaded antenna, N = 24.



Figure 27. Normalized radiation resistance of top-loaded antenna, N = 24.



Figure 28. Normalized bandwidth - efficiency product of top - loaded antenna, N=24.

Figure 29. Normalized radiated power of top - loaded antenna, N = 24.

Figure 30. Normalized power-bandwidth product of toploaded unterna, N = 24.

Electrical Properties Versus Number of Radials (Group III)

Figures 31 through 33 present bandwidth-efficiency product, radiated-power capability. and power-bandwidth product for the set $\rho = h$. Each figure has curves for 6, 12, and 24 radials. and brings out clearly the dependence of the antenna property on the number of radials.

Figure 31. Normalized radiated power of three top - loaded antennas, $\rho = h$.

Figure 32. Normalized bandwidth - efficiency product of three top - loaded antennas, p = h.

Figure 33. Normalized power-bandwidth product of three top-loaded antennas, $\rho = h$.

Correction Factors for h/d Ratios Other Than 200/1 (Group IV)

Figures 34 through 36 are to be used to correct the estimates of antenna properties for tower h/d ratios other than the 200/1 considered in the model studies. Figure 34 gives a common correction factor for capacitance and bandwidth-efficiency product; figure 35 the correction factor for power-handling capability; and figure 36 the correction factor for resonant frequency. Figures 34 and 35 have curves for 6. 12, and 24 top-hat radials; figure 36 does not. since the resonant frequency correction factor is not a function of the number of radials. The other characteristics studied, effective height and radiation resistance, do not vary significantly with tower diameter.

The correction factors are fully accurate only for the configuration for which $\rho = h$ and radial length = tower height. However, since the corrections are small, and since most practical designs will be close to this configuration, they are adequate for engineering purposes.

Figure 34. Correction factor for capacitance and bandwidth-efficiency product, $\rho = h$.

Figure 35. Correction factor for power-handling capability, $\rho = h$.

Figure 36. Correction factor for resonant frequency p = h.

STUDY OF RESULTS

Before we consider the uses of the data in specific applications. it will be helpful to consider the manner in which antenna properties change with top-hat configuration. For this purpose let us study the set N = 12 in Group II. The first two figures in the group are relative capacitance and relative resonant frequency. The relative capacitance is roughly proportional to top-hat area, and consequently increases continuously with increasing h'/h and increasing ρ . Since the resonant frequency varies inversely as the square root of the effective capacitance, the resonant frequency decreases with increasing h'/h and increasing ρ .

The third and fourth figures are closely related. since the relative radiation resistance is the square of the relative effective height. Both characteristics increase with ρ and both have a maximum for $h'/h \approx 0.3$. Therefore, an antenna designed for maximum radiation resistance will have a small top-hat. As is seen from the remaining figures, such an antenna will have poor bandwidth and poor power-handling capability. Since these later characteristics are generally of prime importance, no attempt is usually made to optimize the effective height.

The last three figures. which show bandwidth-efficiency product, power-handling capability. and power-bandwidth product. are of principal interest in antenna design. Looking at the figure for bandwidth-efficiency product. we find that for a given value of ρ the curve has a broad maximum in the neighborhood of h'/h =0.7. For all values of h'/h, the bandwidth-efficiency product increases with ρ , being roughly proportional to ρ at the maximum.

The radiated-power capability is seen to increase with increasing h'/h and increasing ρ . The behavior is of particular interest in the neighborhood of $\rho = h$ and h'/h = 0.7, because $\rho =$ h is desirable from mechanical considerations, and h'/h = 0.7provides optimum bandwidth-efficiency product. The figure shows that the gain in power-handling capability for $\rho = h$ is relatively slow as h'/h is increased beyond 0.7, the gain being about 18 percent at 0.9. For h'/h = 0.7, the gain with increasing ρ is quite rapid, being over 300 percent from $\rho = h$ to $\rho = 2h$.

The curves for power-bandwidth product resemble the curves for bandwidth-efficiency product. However, they reach maximum at h'/h = 0.8 instead of 0.7. As previously noted, for the important case, $\rho = h$, the radiated-power capability increases slowly between h'/h = 0.7 and h'/h = 0.9, and the bandwidthefficiency product maximum is rather broad. It follows that if h'/h is made equal to 0.8 to maximize power-bandwidth product, both bandwidth-efficiency product and radiated-power capability will be close to maximum. The gain of power-bandwidth product with increasing ρ is very rapid. For example, with h'/h optimum, a change from $\rho = h$ to $\rho = 2h$ increases the powerbandwidth product by over 600 percent.

It may seem from the sharp gains observed in bandwidthefficiency product, power-handling capability, and power-bandwidth product with increasing ρ that the design engineer should strive to use maximum ρ . However, if the antenna form factor is kept constant, these properties also change rapidly with antenna height. For example, the power-bandwidth product varies as the seventh power of the height. Consequently, the 600-percent gain in powerbandwidth product which can be obtained by increasing ρ from h to 2h can also be obtained by increasing the height and all other dimensions by about 29 percent. In situations where there is no height limitation, mechanical and cost considerations usually favor the latter course.

So far we have considered only the set of figures for N = 12. but the same general conclusions would have been reached if we had considered the set N = 6 or N = 24. What remains is to determine how the antenna properties vary with the number of tophat radials. The three figures of Group III present relative bandwidth-efficiency product. power-handling capability. and power-bandwidth product for the condition $\rho = h$. with the number of radials as a parameter. All three properties increase materially with increasing N. For example, if the bandwidth-efficiency product for N = 12. h'/h = 0.7 is taken as the reference. increasing N to 24 will increase the bandwidth-efficiency product by 23 percent and the power-handling capability by 50 percent.

Although the gains in performance with increase in number of top-hat radials are obviously substantial and do not involve any serious mechanical problems. an increase has to be justified on the basis of comparative cost. For a typical top-loaded antenna, it is believed that a 24-radial design will cost about 20 percent more than a 12-radial design. The same gain in performance could be achieved by increasing all dimensions by about 10 percent. which also would increase the cost by about 20 percent. Since there are many reasons other than cost for using the smallest suitable antenna. the 24-radial design is probably to be preferred in most cases.

DESIGN APPLICATIONS

As illustrations of the use of the design curves, two typical design problems will be considered. The first problem assumes that a 50-to-150-kc/s top-loaded antenna is to be designed for a site where the height limitation is 350 feet and the diameter cannot exceed 1000 feet. Cost does not allow the use of auxiliary towers. The antenna is to be used with a 50-kW transmitter. It is to have the maximum bandwidth-efficiency product consistent with other requirements.

The limited-space problem can be readily solved with the design curves. Since the bandwidth-efficiency product increases with the number of radials N and the value of ρ , the maximum practical number of top-hat radials. twenty-four. and the maximum permissible value of ρ , (500/350)h, or 1.43h, are chosen. From the bandwidth-efficiency data for 24 radials and ρ equal 1.43h. it is found that the bandwidth-efficiency product will be maximum for an h'/h ratio of 0.7. and will have a relative value of approximately 9. Since the bandwidth-efficiency product of the 350-foot reference antenna is 2.5 cycles at 50 kc/s (fig. 7), it follows that bandwidth-efficiency product for the proposed design is (9) (2.5), or 22.5 cycles.

For the conditions N = 24, $\rho = 1.43h$, and h'/h = 0.7. the radiatedpower capability of the antenna at 50 kc/s is (0.206) (66), or 13.6 kW. and the resonant frequency is (674) (0.245). or 165 kc/s. The effective height is (175) (1.11). or 194 feet, the radiation resistance at 50 kc/s is (0.125) (1.22), or 0.1525 ohm, and the static capacitance is (1225) (7.45), or 9126 picofarads. The static reactance (X_s) at 50 kc/s will be -347 ohms.

The input reactance of this type of antenna can readily be found for any frequency for which the electrical distance from the antenna base to the edge of the top-hat is not much greater than $\lambda/8$. Subject to this restriction the top-hat may be considered a capacitor with capacitance equal to the static capacitance of the antenna. This capacitance is in series with the inductance of the tower. At the resonant frequency of the antenna the top-hat capacitive reactance is canceled by the inductive reactance of the tower. From this approach

$$X_{in} = X_s \left[1 - (f/f_r)^2 \right]$$
 ohms

and for the design under consideration we have, at 50 kc/s,

 $X_{\rm in} = -347 \left[1 - (50/165)^2 \right] = -315$ ohms

Now that the electrical properties of the tentative design have been established, the size of the transmitter needed for maximum radiated power must be determined. For this purpose we turn to the ground system design curves of Wait.⁷ We find that for an idealized ground system extending to 500 feet and an average ground conductivity of 10 millimhos per meter, the ground loss resistance will be 0.06 to 0.07 ohm. Most measured data seem to indicate actual ground loss resistance several times these idealized values. perhaps 0.20 ohm for this design. With a tuning system Q of 1500 at 50 kc/s, the tuning loss resistance will be 0.21 ohm. Antenna system efficiency n will then be

$$\frac{0.15}{0.15 + 0.20 + 0.21}$$
, or 27 percent

The antenna system will require (13.6/0.27), or 50.4 kW, for maximum output. Losses in the matching transformer will be about 2 kW, so that about 52 kW of transmitter power will be needed for maximum output at 50 kc/s. Therefore, the proposed design meets the requirements of maximum bandwidth-efficiency product and suitability for use with a 50-kW transmitter.

The second problem is the design of an antenna for multichannel operation at 50 kc/s. For this method of communication an antenna system bandwidth of 1000 cycles might be required. If an antenna system efficiency of 50 percent is assumed, the required antenna system bandwidth-efficiency product becomes 500 cycles.

The bandwidth-efficiency product of the 360-foot antenna just considered is 22.5 cycles at 50 kc/s. If we remember that the static capacitance for a given design is proportional to antenna height, it is apparent from equation (4) that the bandwidthefficiency product of the configuration just studied will increase as the cube of the height. A projection made on this basis indicates that an antenna suitable for multichannel operation at 50 kc/s will have to be at least 1000 feet high. A preliminary design is therefore considered which is 1000 feet high and has 24 top-hat radials and a value of ρ equal to h. The value $\rho = h$ is selected for mechanical considerations which are important in structures of this size.

A study of the relative bandwidth-efficiency curve for N = 24and $\rho = h$ shows that at the optimum value of h'/h

$$BWn = (58.5)(6.4)$$
, or 374 cycles

To reach a bandwidth-efficiency product of 500 cycles, we must obviously either increase the ratio of ρ to h or increase the size of the antenna. Considering first an increase in ρ , we study figure 28. Since the bandwidth-efficiency product of the reference tower antenna is 58.5 cycles. a value of ρ must be chosen for which the relative bandwidth-efficiency product is 8.54. This value is 1.33h. A check of the design curves reveals that for this configuration the resonant frequency is 62 kc/s.

Since for a constant form factor, the bandwidth-efficiency product varies as the cube of the height, the height will have to be increased by $(500/374)^{1/3}$, or 1.102 for a bandwidth-efficiency product of 500 cycles. Accordingly an 1100-foot antenna designed like the reference 1000-foot antenna will have the necessary bandwidth-efficiency product. Since the resonant frequency of the 1000-foot antenna was about 74 kc/s. the resonant frequency of the 1100-foot antenna will be 67 kc/s.

The tentative designs will have a radiation capability of many hundreds of kilowatts even at 50 kc/s, so that in this respect they exceed any probable requirement. However, the basic assumption upon which this analysis is based. that the electrical distance from the antenna base to the edge of the top-hat does not exceed $\lambda/8$, is violated over most of the 50-to-150-kc/s range. Above first resonance the input resistance and the input reactance will increase more rapidly than simple theory would predict. Model studies have shown, however, that the impedance characteristics will still be good up to about 2.4 times the frequency of first resonance, and the impedance properties of the 1100-foot design will accordingly be good up to about 160 kc/s. For the extended top-hat design the upper frequency of 150 kc/s is slightly beyond the region of good characteristics. As the 1100-foot design is also better mechanically, it is the better choice.

Other properties of this antenna are:

 h_e = 616 feet C_s = 19.250 picofarads R_r = 1.54 ohms (at 50 kc/s) X_{in} = -73 ohms (at 50 kc/s).

and

CONCLUSIONS

It is believed that the design curves contain all the information needed to determine the electrical properties of top-loaded monopole antennas. Comparisons have been made between the properties predicted from these curves and those of actual fullscale antennas. After an adjustment has been made for the effect of sag upon the effective height, the agreement has been found to be good. For example the predicted static capacitance, effective height, and resonant frequency of the modified 612-foot top-loaded monopole antenna at the Navy Radio Station, Dixon, California, are all within a few percent of the measured values.

The design data have also been used to make comparisons between the electrical properties of various proprietary lowfrequency antenna designs and those of top-loaded monopole antennas of comparable size and cost. In every case the properties of the top-loaded antennas have been better than those of the other antennas.

When a similar comparison is made between the 600-foot three-tower triatic antenna at Chollas Heights and top-loaded antennas of comparable height, the properties of the triatic antenna are found to be superior. For example, the Chollas Heights antenna has a bandwidth-efficiency product of about 2750 cycles at 100 kc/s while the 612-foot Dixon top-loaded monopole has a bandwidthefficiency product of 1261 cycles. A more meaningful comparison can be made by considering the relative merits of a 600-foot triatic antenna and a top-loaded monopole antenna with the same bandwidthefficiency product. A modern 600-foot triatic antenna, similar to the Chollas Heights antenna but using guyed towers to reduce cost, would occupy a roughly circular area about 800 feet in radius, and would cost more than twice as much as the present Dixon antenna. A top-loaded monopole antenna of the Dixon design but with the same bandwidth-efficiency product as the Chollas Heights antenna would be approximately 800 feet high and would occupy about the same area as the modern triatic antenna. The enlarged Dixon-type antenna would cost about 70 percent more than the present Dixon antenna. It follows that a triatic antenna will have about threefourths the height of an equivalent top-loaded monopole antenna but will probably cost about 25 percent more. Therefore, the toploaded monopole antenna should be used when cost is the controlling factor, but the triatic design should be considered when a height limitation makes it difficult to obtain the required bandwidthefficiency product with the Dixon design.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the top-loaded monopole antenna be accepted as the Navy standard for low-frequency use.

It is also recommended that (1) operational requirements be established for a set of standard top-loaded antennas. (2) the various electrical designs which meet the requirements be determined from the design curves in this report. (3) the best designs from the mechanical and cost standpoints be selected, and (4) structural drawings be prepared for general Navy use.

Standard low-frequency antennas selected in this manner will closely resemble the modified Dixon antenna. They will differ from each other primarily in size. When a height limitation makes it difficult to meet operational requirements, the operational requirements should be compared with the properties of the largest standard antenna that can be built. If the required bandwidthefficiency product is less than twice that of the standard antenna, it is recommended that it be obtained by modifying the standard design by extending the radius of the top-hat. If an area restriction does not permit an increase in the antenna diameter, then a triatic design should be used.

Finally. if the required bandwidth-efficiency product is more than twice that of the standard antenna. it is recommended that efficiency be reduced by resistor loading so that the bandwidth can be obtained by either of the two approaches mentioned above. However, before this is done, the required operating frequency should be carefully reviewed. It is probable that a higher operating frequency would be the better choice.

REFERENCES

1. Smith, C. E. and Johnson, E. M., ''Performance of Short Antennas,'' Institute of Radio Engineers. Proceedings. v. 35. p. 1026-1038, October 1947

2. Smith, C. E. and others, "Very High-Power Long-Wave Broadcasting Station," Institute of Radio Engineers. Proceedings, v. 42, p. 1222-1235, August 1954

3. Gangi, A. F. and others, "Characteristics of Electrically Short, Umbrella Top-Loaded Antennas," Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. Transactions: Antennas and Propagation. v. AP-13, p. 864-871. November 1965

4. Jasik. H., Antenna Engineering Handbook, p. 19-1 - 19-6, McGraw-Hill, 1961

5. King, R. W. P., <u>The Theory of Linear Antennas</u>, p. 184-192, Harvard University Press, 1956

6. Schelkunoff, S. A. and Friis, H. T., <u>Antennas: Theory and</u> <u>Practice</u>, p. 18-20, Wiley, 1952

7. Canada. Defense Research Telecommunications Establishment/ Radio Physics Laboratory Project Report 19-0-7, <u>Characteristics</u> of a Vertical Antenna With a Radial Conductor Ground System (Part 2), by J. R. Wait and W. A. Pope, 15 April 1954

8. Navy Electronics Laboratory Report 1296, <u>Frequency</u> <u>Limitations in the Multichannel LF Broadcast</u>, by W. E. Gustafson, 16 June 1965

BLANK PAGE

UNCLASSIFIED Security Classification 14 LINK A LINK B KEY WORDS LINK C ROLE WT ROLE WT ROLE W 1 Monopole Antennas - Electrical Properties Low-Frequency Antennas INSTRUCTIONS 1. ORIGINATING ACTIVITY: Enter the name and address imposed by security classification, using standard statements such as: of the contractor, subcontractor, grantee, Department of Defense activity or other organization (corporate author) issuing (1) "Qualified requesters may obtain copies of this report from DDC." the report. 2a. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION: Enter the overall security classification of the report. Indicate whether "Restricted Data" is included. Marking is to be in accord-"Foreign announcement and dissemination of this report by DDC is not authorized." (2) ance with appropriate security regulations. "U. S. Government agencies may obtain copies of this report directly from DDC. Other qualified DDC (3)2b. GROUP: Automatic downgrading is specified in DoD Di-rective 5200.10 and Armed Forces Industrial Manual. Enter users shall request through the group number. Also when applicable, show that optional markings have been used for Group 3 and Group 4 as author-(4) "U. S. military agencies may obtain copies of this report directly from DDC. Other qualified users ized. 3. REPORT TITLE: Enter the complete report title in all shall request through capital letters. Titles in all cases should be unclassified. If a meaningful title cannot be selected without classifica-tion, show title classification in all capitals in parenthesis (5) "All distribution of this report is controlled Qualimmediately following the title. ified DDC users shall request through 4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES: If appropriate, enter the type of report, e.g., interim, progress, summary, annual, or final. Give the inclusive dates when a specific reporting period is If the report has been furnished to the Office of Technical Services, Department of Commerce, for sale to the public, indicovered. cate this fact and enter the price, if known. 5. AUTHOR(S): Enter the name(s) of author(s) as shown on or in the report. Enter last name, first name, middle initial. If military, show rank and branch of service. The name of 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES: Use for additional explanatory notes. the principal author is an absolute minimum requirement. 12. SPONSORING MILITARY ACTIVITY: Enter the name of 6. REPORT DATE: Enter the date of the report as day, the departmental project office or laboratory sponsoring (payon the year, or month, year, if more than one date appears on the report, use date of publication. ing for) the research and development. Include address. 13 ABSTRACT: Enter an abstract giving a brief and factual 7a. TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES: The total page count summary of the document indicative of the report, even though it may also appear elsewhere in the body of the technical re-port. If additional space is required, a continuation sheet shall should follow normal pagination procedures, i.e., enter the number of pages containing information. be attached. NUMBER OF REFERENCES Enter the total number of It is highly desirable that the abstract of classified reports be unclassified. Each paragraph of the abstract shall end with references cited in the report. 8a. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER: If appropriate, enter an indication of the military security classification of the inthe applicable number of the contract or grant under which formation in the paragraph, represented as (TS), (S), (C), or (U) the report was written. There is no limitation on the length of the abstract. How-8b, 8c, & 8d. PROJECT NUMBER: Enter the appropriate ever the suggested length is from 150 to 225 words. military department identification, such as project number, 14. KEY WORDS: Key words are technically meaningful terms subproject number, system numbers, task number, etc. 9a. ORIGINATOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S): Enter the official report number by which the document will be identified and controlled by the originating activity. This number must

be unique to this report.

96. OTHER REPORT NUMBER(S): If the report has been assigned any other report numbers (either by the originator

10. AVAILABILITY/LIMITATION NOTICES: Enter any limitations on further dissemination of the report, other than those

or by the sponsor), also enter this number(s).

The solution of the solution o text. The assignment of links, roles, and weights is optional.

UNCLASSIFIED

Security Classification

UNCLASSIFIED

100

ORIGINATING ACTIVITY (Corporate author)	ung annotation must be ente	red when	the overall report is classified)	
Manager Toll and the Table	2	A REPO	RT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	
Navy Electronics Laboratory,	ry,		UNCLASSIFIED	
San Diego, California 92152	2	b GROU	P	
REPORT TITLE				
LOW-FREQUENCY TOP-LOADED	ANTENNAS			
Research and Development Report,	November 1964	to Ma	ay 1965	
AUTHOR(5) (Lest name, first name, initial) Devaney T. E. Hall R. F. and	Gustafson W	য		
Devancy, 1. D., han, h. F., and	Gustarson, W. A			
REPORT DATE	7. TOTAL NO. OF PA	SES	75. NO OF REFS	
	51			
IA, GONTRACT OR GRANT NO.	JA ORIGINATOR'S REP	ORT NUI	NBE ((J)	
ь. PROJECT NO. SF 006 03 05, Task 7916	1 3 8 1			
(NEL 514301) c.	9b. OTHER REPORT NO(5) (Any other numbers that may be this report)		other numbers that may be sealing.	
d.				
O. A VAILABILITY/LIMITATION NOTICES				
1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	12 SPONSORING MILIT	ARY ACT		
Contains design curves	Naval Ship Sys	tems the N	Command	
I3. ABSTRACT	120put thicket of	the ri		
Electrical properties of top	·loaded monopol	e ante	nnas and changes in	
		yzed	and interpreted. It is	
these properties with top-hat config	guration are anal		•	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m	guration are anal nonopole be acce	pted a	s the Navy standard	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in (pted a design	s the Navy standard are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in (pted a design	s the Navy standard are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in (pted a design	s the Navy standard are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal conopole be acce table for use in (pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in (pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in o	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in o	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in o	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in o	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in o	pted a design	s the Navy standard a are presented.	
these properties with top-hat config recommended that the top-loaded m for low-frequency use. Curves sui	guration are anal nonopole be acce table for use in a	pted a design	s the Navy standard	

Security Classification